IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

CLA PROPERTIES LLC, A CALIFORNIA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Appellant,

VS.

SHAWN BIDSAL, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent.

CLA PROPERTIES LLC, A CALIFORNIA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Appellant,

VS.

SHAWN BIDSAL, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent.

No. 8643 Electronically Filed
Nov 03 2023 11:34 AM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

No. 86817

APPEAL FROM ORDER AND RELATED JUDGMENT CONFIRMING ARBITRATION AWARD

Eighth Judicial District Court, Hon. Joanna Kishner, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order confirming an arbitration award. The order is appealable under NRS 38.247(1)(c). The appeal is timely, because the notice of appeal was filed on April 17, 2023, which was within 30 days after a notice of entry was served on March 21, 2023.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal originates from the Business Court, and is therefore presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(9).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the second arbitrator had authority to issue an award modifying or amending the first arbitrator's finding that Respondent was obligated

to sell his interest in Green Valley Commerce, LLC, by September 3, 2017, while that finding was still on appeal with, and ultimately affirmed by, this Court.

- 2. Whether the second arbitrator had authority to issue an award finding that the date mandated by the parties' contract for Respondent to sell his interest had "not yet come to pass," when that finding was unsupported by, and contrary to, the deadline in contract, the parties' agreed understanding of that deadline, and the Final Award from the first arbitration still on appeal with, and ultimately affirmed by, this Court.
- 3. Whether the second arbitrator had authority to issue an award finding that the first arbitrator "postponed" the sale date mandated by the contract when the Final Award issued by that arbitrator contains no such postponement and, as the second arbitrator acknowledged, no such postponement could be issued by an arbitrator in any event.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced with a motion filed on June 17, 2022, to vacate an arbitration award. (1A.App.1). The district court entered its order confirming the award on March 20, 2023. (37A.App.8512). This appeal followed. (38A.App.8861).

///

STATEMENT OF FACTS⁴

A. BACKGROUND

1. GVC and the "Buy/Sell" provision

In 2011 Bidsal and CLA agreed to go into business together as members of a Nevada limited liability company called Green Valley Commerce, LLC ("GVC"). GVC's purpose was the acquisition, operation, and management of real estate. OA, p. 1, Art. I (1A.App.58). CLA and Bidsal both signed GVC's operating agreement. *See* OA, p. 21 (1A.App.58-85). Under the Agreement, CLA contributed 70% of GVC's capital, while Bidsal provided only 30%. Both parties received a 50% ownership interest in the company. OA, p. 28, Ex. B (1A.App.85). Although both Bidsal and CLA held equal shares and were both "managers" of GVC, Bidsal was its day-to-day manager. *See e.g.*, Order on Pending Motions, p. 2 (14A.App.3216).

The Agreement contained procedures by which one party might buy the ownership interest of the other. OA, pp. 10-11, Art. V, Sec. 4.2 (1A.App.67-68). Under this "buy-sell" provision, either party could offer to buy out the other, proposing a fair market value as the starting point for a formula to determine the sale

⁴ CLA's appendix with this brief contains more than 250 documents, many containing internal section and paragraph numbers. To assist the Court in reading this brief and tracking appendix citations, CLA will frequently provide an abbreviated description of the document to which the appendix citation refers, followed immediately by the appendix citation with the corresponding volume and page numbers.

price. The other party could accept that valuation and sell; demand an appraisal; or instead of selling, accept the valuation and use it to buy the original offeror's interest. The sale was required to close in 30 days.⁵

2. Bidsal first attempts to buy, and then breaches his duty to sell

On July 7, 2017, Bidsal triggered the "buy-sell" provision in a letter to CLA. He offered to buy CLA's interest, setting his own fair market value of GVC at \$5 million; and he specified that unless contested, that value would be used to determine the final sale price. Letter dated Jul 7, 2017 (5A.App.1084-84).

On August 3, 2017, CLA accepted Bidsal's valuation, but exercised its right to buy rather than sell. Letter dated Aug 3, 2017 (5A.App.1086). When doing so, CLA specifically directed there should be no distributions from GVC funds without CLA's written consent. *Id.* Two days later, Bidsal decided that because he was now in the seller's role rather than the buyer, the fair market valuation that he himself had used in his offer to buy CLA's interest was too low and was no longer acceptable. He wrote to CLA purporting to invoke his "right to establish the FMV by appraisal." Letter dated Aug 5, 2017 (5A.App.1088).

⁵ The parties' dispute over the application and effect of the "buy-sell" provision was at the heart of the First Arbitration. The provision itself, and the findings of the First Arbitration confirmed by the district court and affirmed by this Court, are summarized here. *See* Final Award, p. 11, para 20C (2A.App.257).

With that, the parties were at an impasse. Bidsal refused to sell, saying "we cannot open any escrow since we do not agree on this matter." Email from Bidsal dated August 16, 2017 (14A.App.3212).⁶ With the 30-day deadline to close the sale pending, CLA provided Bidsal proof of funds for the purchase. Letter dated August 28, 2017 (36A.App.8181-84). But as of the deadline, September 3, 2017, Bidsal's refusal to sell remained unchanged.

B. THE FIRST ARBITRATION AND AFFIRMATION BY THIS COURT

1. The first arbitration

Faced with Bidsal's refusal and his failure to meet that deadline, CLA filed an arbitration demand with JAMS, in accordance with the dispute resolution provisions of the Agreement. OA, pp. 7-8, Art. III, Sec. 14.1 (1A.App.64-65); *see also* Demand for Arbitration (36A.App.8186-90). Hon. Stephen E. Haberfeld was the arbitrator in this First Arbitration.

The parties participated in pre-arbitration proceedings, attended a hearing held May 8-9, 2018, and submitted post hearing briefs. Final Award, pp. 103 (2A.App.247-49). At the hearing, Bidsal testified that he genuinely believed his \$5 million valuation represented GVC's fair market value when he offered to buy CLA's interest and thereby triggered the "buy-sell" provision of the Agreement.

4

⁶ Indeed, Bidsal maintained through the First Arbitration that CLA never exercised its right to buy because he was entitled to an appraisal. *See* Final Award, pp. 8-9, para 16 (2A.App.254-55); *see also* First Arb. Tr. 339:19-22 (24A.App.5407).

First Arb. Hearing Tran. ("First Arb. Tr.") 335:20-25 (24A.App5403). He further testified that he still believed the fair market value was \$5 million when CLA elected to be the buyer rather than the seller. First Arb. Tr. 337:14-338:9 (24A.App.5405-06). Nevertheless, Bidsal continued to insist that CLA had no right to rely on the valuation he had established himself and therefore CLA had never validly exercised its option to buy. First Arb. Tr. 339:19-22 (24A.App.5407).

After the hearing and submission of briefs in the First Arbitration, Judge Haberfeld issued a Final Award. Under the "buy-sell" provision, he found, Bidsal had agreed to sell and could be legally compelled to sell his interest in GVC, using the price formula in the Agreement and his own \$5 million valuation. Final Award, p. 6, para 10C (2A.App.252). Having made a valuation, Bidsal could not simply abandon it. Final Award, p. 10, para 19 (2A.App.256). Judge Haberfeld ruled: "Thus, Mr. Bidsal had no right to demand an appraisal, and under [OA] Section 4.2 Mr. Bidsal was obligated to close escrow and sell his 50% Membership Interest to CLA within 30 days after CLA elected to buy, i.e. by September 3, 2017." Final Award, p. 11, para 20C (2A.App.257) (emphasis added).

The Final Award, issued more than 19 months after the September 2017 sale deadline, required Bidsal to fulfill his obligation to sell the interest "free and clear of all liens and encumbrances." To do so, he was required to deliver "all documents

necessary to effectuate the transfer and sale" within 10 days. Final Award, p. 14, para 24 (2A.App.260). But Bidsal once again did not comply.

2. Affirmation by this Court

Instead of complying with the Final Award's edict, Bidsal desperately sought to have it set aside. He filed a motion to vacate the award in the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada on April 9, 2017. Bidsal's Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award (10A.App.2112-52). That court subsequently determined there was no federal question presented and dismissed the matter for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *See* Order Granting Petition for Confirmation of Arbitration Award ("Conf."), p. 6 (2A.App.289).

Faced with Bidsal's ongoing refusal to honor his obligations, CLA petitioned the Eighth Judicial District Court for a judgment confirming the Final Award. Following briefing and a hearing in November 2019, that court confirmed the Final Award in its entirety. Conf., p. 5 (2A.App.288). With both the September 2017 sale deadline required by the Agreement and the April 2019 deadline to deliver documents specified in the Final Award having passed, the district court tried again. It ordered Bidsal to "execute any and all documents necessary to effectuate such sale and transfer" within 14 days. Conf., p. 8 (2A.App.291).

Not content with the outcome of more than two years of arbitration and courtroom litigation, and not getting his hoped-for result, Bidsal appealed to this

Court, again contending he had no duty to sell to CLA. He fared no better here. This Court entered an Order of Affirmance, finding no basis to disturb Judge Haberfeld's interpretation of the "buy-sell" provision. Order of Affirmance, No. 80831, Mar. 17, 2023 (35A.App 7976-7981).

During all this time, Bidsal had been able to retain the GVC interest he was obliged to sell to CLA more than four years prior on September 3, 2017. Judge Haberfeld, the district court, and this Court all held that he had no valid basis for retaining his interest.

C. BIDSAL'S ILLICIT DISTRIBUTIONS AND THE SECOND ARBITRATION

1. Bidsal's illicit distributions to himself

As its day-to-day manager, Bidsal was in charge of GVC's distributions. The parties disagreed on the proper amount of the distributions prior to CLA's exercise of its rights under the "buy-sell" provision, but those distributions are not part of this appeal. As noted above, CLA is concerned only with the distributions Bisdal took for himself *after* the contract obliged him to sell his interest.

When it exercised its option to buy, CLA warned Bidsal against making any further distributions without its express written consent. Letter Aug 3, 2017 (5A.App.1086). Despite this admonition, Bidsal – as the manager responsible for day-to-day operations of GVC – helped himself to more than half a million dollars after he was obliged to sell his interest.

On November 22, 2017, more than eleven weeks after the sale deadline, Bidsal took \$145,000 from GVC's accounts. *See* Green Valley Commerce Distribution 2011-2019, p. 2 ("Distr. List") (35A.App.7984). Shortly before the May 2018 hearing in the First Arbitration, he took another \$100,000. *Id.* After that hearing, with a decision still pending, he helped himself to \$75,000 more. *Id.* On February 22, 2019, Judge Haberfeld issued an interim award containing a written decision that CLA was the prevailing party. Final Award, pp. 2-3, para 2 (2A.App.248-49). Nevertheless, Bidsal two weeks later gave himself another \$83,000. Distr. List, p. 2 (35A.App.7984).

The Final Award from the First Arbitration – stating that Bidsal had no right to retain an interest in GVC, and that he had been obligated to sell by September 3, 2017 – was issued by Judge Haberfeld on April 5, 2019. It required Bidsal to deliver the documents needed to transfer the retained interest to CLA within 10 days. Final Award, p. 11, para 20C (2A.App.257), and p. 20 (2A.App.266). But Bidsal did not comply. Instead, he continued taking money from GVC. On August 14 and October 7, 2019, Bidsal helped himself to a total of \$97,500. Distr. List, p. 2 (35A.App.7984). Bidsal's distributions to himself are illustrated as follows:

///

///

Timing	Events
July 2017 –	July 7, 2017: Bidsal triggers "buy-sell" provision of the
September 2017	Agreement. Values company at \$5 million, offers to buy out CLA.
"BUY-SELL" PROCESS	August 3, 2017: CLA accepts Bidsal's valuation but exercises option to buy rather than sell. Instructs Bidsal to take no further distributions w/o CLA's written permission. September 3, 2017: "Buy-sell" 30 day sale deadline expires. Bidsal abandons his own valuation, refuses to sell.
September 2017 – April 2019 FIRST	September 26, 2017: CLA files arbitration demand to enforce Bidsal's duty to sell. Parties participate in prehearing proceedings.
ARBITRATION	November 22, 2017: Bidsal gives himself \$145,000 in distributions.
	April 26, 2018: Bidsal gives himself \$100,000 more in distributions.
	May 8-9, 2018: FIRST ARBITRATION HEARING.
	August 23, 2018: Bidsal gives himself \$75,000 in distributions.
	October 10, 2018: FIRST MERITS ORDER ISSUED. Concludes Bidsal was obligated to sell to CLA using his own \$5 million valuation.
	February 19, 2019: INTERIM AWARD ISSUED. CLA remains the prevailing party, is awarded attorney's fees.
	March 8, 2019: Bidsal gives himself \$83,000 more in distributions.

	April 5, 2019: FINAL AWARD ISSUED. Bidsal was obligated to sell by September 3, 2017; requires document delivery within 10 days. April 15, 2019. Final Award deadline passes. Bidsal does not comply.
May 2019 –	May 21, 2019: CLA petitions EJDC for confirmation of
December 2019	Final Award.
CONFIRMATION	August 14, 2019: Bidsal takes \$75,000 more in distributions.
	October 7, 2019: Bidsal takes another \$22,500 in distributions.
	December 16, 2019: CONFIRMATION. EJDC enters order confirming Final Award in its entirety.

In total, Bidsal gave himself \$500,500 in GVC funds after CLA exercised its option to buy, after he was warned not to take any further distributions, and *after the sale deadline mandated by the Agreement*. Of that sum, Bidsal took \$180,500 *even after he knew he had lost the First Arbitration*. Distr. List (35A.App.7983-84).⁷

2. The second arbitration

After losing the First Arbitration, losing in federal court, and losing in the district court, Bidsal tried yet again. He filed a notice of appeal to this Court on

⁷ During the time when Bidsal made distributions to himself, he also made some distributions of CLA. Distr. List (35A.App.7983-84).

January 9, 2020 (10A.App.2153), and a few weeks later he filed a new arbitration demand on February 7, 2020. Demand for Arbitration Form (1A.App.99-133). For this new proceeding (the "Second Arbitration"), he initially alleged arbitration was required to resolve "the proper accounting associated with the member's membership interest, including proper calculation of each member's capital accounts, proper calculation of the purchase price, and proper accounting of services each member provided to the company." *Id.* at p. 3 (1A.App.102).

On November 2, 2020, Bidsal amended his demand. *See* First Amended Demand for Arbitration ("FAD") (1A.App.201-03). The FAD became his operative pleading in the Second Arbitration. In it, Bidsal alleged that CLA "never exercised" its right to buy his interest because it never "never tendered" the purchase price. Thus, he argued, CLA "failed to comply with the provisions of the Operating Agreement" and waived its right to buy. FAD, pp. 1-2, para 4 (1A.App.201-02).

In response, CLA noted that it did not disagree as to the formula for calculating the purchase price of the interest still in Bidsal's hands. *See* Respondent's Fourth Am. Answer to Bidsal's First Am. Demand, pp. 2-3, para 4 (1A.App.206-207). However, CLA wrote, there was an issue stemming from Bidsal's distributions to himself:

Had Mr. Bidsal honored his contractual obligations under the Operating Agreement he would have not been entitled to any distributions after CLA's exercise of its option and the closing of the sale which should

have occurred within 30 days after August 3, 2017 and should not benefit by delaying ...

Id. at p. 5, para 9 (1A.App.209) (emphasis added).

During a Second Arbitration hearing on March 17, 2021, Bidsal made clear his position. He argued that when CLA exercised its rights under the "buy-sell" provision, "under the terms of the operating agreement, it's very specific about what is supposed to happen. They're supposed to close escrow within 30 days." Second Arb. Hearing Tran. ("Second Arb. Tr.") 43:8-10 (25A.App.5594). In Bidsal's view, CLA had "to pay what the amount was that they thought that the formula was within 30 days." *Id.* at 43:12-15. Notwithstanding his abandonment of his own valuation; his refusal to participate and cooperate to open "any escrow"; and his refusal to admit CLA had even ever exercised its option, Bidsal insisted CLA bore the blame for missing the deadline. *Id*.

Bidsal thus claimed that Judge Haberfeld was wrong in determining Bidsal "was obligated to close escrow and sell his 50% Membership Interest to CLA within 30 days after CLA elected to buy, i.e. by September 3, 2017" but "refused to sell," Final Award, pp. 3-4, para 4 (2A.App.249) and p. 11, para 20C (2A.App.257). Instead, Bidsal argued, he "had *no* obligation to transfer his membership interest." Second Arb. Tr. 44:5-7 (25A.App.5595) (emphasis added). Bidsal's obligation to sell and the propriety of Judge Haberfeld's Final Award had already been affirmed

by the District Court and were, of course, precisely the issues already pending in this Court on Bidsal's appeal. Bidsal did not explain how they were properly part of the Second Arbitration.

The second arbitrator, Hon. David T. Wall, dispensed with Bidsal's waiver arguments in an award (the "Second Award") issued March 12, 2022 – five days before this Court affirmed the First Arbitration's Final Award. Responsibility for Bidsal's failure to sell in 2017, Judge Wall held, was a matter for the First Arbitration. "Claimant argues that CLA failed to tender the purchase price in the fall of 2017 ... [this issue] needed to be addressed in the original Arbitration proceeding before Judge Haberfeld." Second Award, p. 8, para IV.A. (1A.App.33).

Judge Wall did not dispute Judge Haberfeld's finding that Bidsal "refused" to sell. *Compare* Final Award, pp. 3-4, para 4, 2A.App.249-50 *with* Second Award, *passim* (1A.App. 26-56). Judge Wall also rejected Bidsal's effort to blame CLA for not tendering the purchase price when the First Arbitration ended. "Immediately following Judge Haberfeld's award, [Bidsal] filed a Motion to Vacate the award ... [and after the First Award was confirmed by the district court] sought and received a stay of enforcement of Judge Haberfeld's award to take an appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court." Given Bidsal's ongoing efforts to overturn the award, "any perceived failure" to tender "was appropriate." Second Award, p. 8, para IV.A. (1A.App.33).

Although refusing to find CLA culpable for Bidsal's failure to sell, Judge Wall gave no relief for Bidsal's hundreds of thousands of dollars in distributions to himself. Instead, Judge Wall opined that because the date for the sale had "not yet come to pass," Bidsal was entitled to keep all the money – even the funds taken after Bidsal lost the First Arbitration. Second Award, p. 23, para IV.D. (1A.App.48). "Bidsal has appropriately received distributions since 2017, and since he remains a member of GVC, cannot be required to divest himself of those distributions." *Id.* Furthermore, Judge Wall argued, because Bidsal was "still a member of GVC" nothing should be deducted from the sale price for the distributions Bidsal gave himself over CLA's objection. *Id.* at p. 24 (1A.App.49).

Judge Wall did not address Bidsal's serial rejection of the "buy-sell" process. Second Award, *passim*. Judge Wall did not discuss, much less challenge, Judge Haberfeld's finding that Bidsal was obligated to sell in September 2017 but refused. Second Award, *passim*. Nor did Judge Wall rule on CLA's claim that Bidsal was in a position to take distributions for himself only because he breached his duty to sell. Second Award, *passim*.

The district court confirmed the Second Award. (37A.App.8523-8533). CLA appeals.

///

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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