Case Nos. 86438 & 86817

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NET And Alically Filed

Jan 03 2024 01:49 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

In the Matter of the Petition of CLA PROPERTIES LLC.

CLA PROPERTIES LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

SHAWN BIDSAL,

Respondent.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada The Honorable JOANNA S. KISHNER, District Judge District Court Case No. A-22-854413-B

RESPONDENT SHAWN BIDSAL'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL

Douglas D. Gerrard (sbn 4613) Gary C. Milne (sbn 3653) Gerrard Cox Larsen 2450 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 200 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 796-4000 JAMES E. SHAPIRO (SBN 7907)
AIMEE M. CANNON (SBN 11780)

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

9 U.S.C. § 10(a). Under the FAA:

[A] federal court [may] correct a technical error, [] strike all or a portion of an award pertaining to an issue not at all subject to arbitration, and [] vacate an award that evidences affirmative misconduct in the arbitral process or the final result or that is completely irrational or exhibits a manifest disregard for the law. **These grounds afford an extremely limited review authority**, a limitation that is designed to preserve due process but not to permit unnecessary public intrusion into private arbitration procedures.

668 F.3d at 663-664 (9th Cir. 2012).

CLA's vacatur argument arises only under 9 U.S.C. § 10(4) (listed above), claiming Judge Wall exceeded his powers. Applying this very limited basis for vacating an arbitration award under the FAA, "[n]either erroneous legal conclusions

nor unsubstantiated factual findings justify federal court review of an arbitral award under the statute, which is unambiguous in this regard." *Kyocera Corp. v. Prudential-Bache Trade Serv. Inc.*, 341 F.3d 987, 994 (9th Cir. 2003).

Federal law also explains that "manifest disregard of the law" is extremely difficult to show because "[m]anifest disregard of the law means something more than just an error in the law or a failure on the part of the arbitrators to understand or apply the law." *Biller* at 665 *citing Lagstein v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's*, *London*, 607 F.3d 634, 641 (9th Cir. 2010) (emphasis added).

To vacate an arbitration award on this ground, '[i]t must be clear from the record that the arbitrators recognized the applicable law and then ignored it.'" *Id.* "An award is completely irrational 'only where the arbitration decision fails to draw its essence from the agreement." *Lagstein*, 607 F.3d at 642 (quoting *Comedy Club*, 553 F.3d at 1288 (citation and alterations omitted)). "An arbitration award 'draws its essence from the agreement if the award is derived from the agreement, viewed in light of the agreement's language and context, as well as other indications of the parties' intentions." *Lagstein*, 607 F.3d at 642 (alterations in original) (*quoting Bosack*, 586 F.3d at 1106)).

668 F.3d at 665 (emphasis added).

"[M]anifest disregard of the law "is a high standard for vacatur; '[i]t is not enough... to show that the panel committed an error-or even a serious error." *Id.* at 641 (quoting *Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds Int'l Corp.*, U.S., 130 S. Ct. 1758, 1767, 176 L. Ed. 2d 605 (2010)).

668 F.3d at 667 (emphasis added).

In the Second Arbitration, Judge Wall determined, among other things: (i) the amount of the purchase price under the ambiguous buy-sell formula from the

Agreement; (ii) if Bidsal had appropriately made all distributions of sale proceeds and of profits from operations in accordance with the purpose and intent of the Agreement⁴; and (iii) when the yet to be completed sale transaction would become effective under the Agreement. In other words, all of Judge Walls' decisions "draw its essence from the Agreement" (668 F.3d at 665) and were made to resolve a "controversy, dispute or claim arising out of or relating...to [the] Agreement or the transactions arising [thereunder]" which disputes the Agreement states are to be exclusively decided through arbitration. (No. 1, Vol. 1, pp. 57-85 at p. 64, ¶ 14.1). And as this Court has already stated, "so long as the arbitrator was arguably construing the contract, a court may not correct his mistakes under 9 U.S.C. § 10(a)(4)." See Affirmation Order (No. 19, Vol. 35, pp. 7976-7981 at p. 7979).

There is certainly no evidence in the record to satisfy the extremely high standard that Judge Wall "recognized the applicable law and then ignored it" as would be required to vacate the Second Arbitration Decision under the FAA. 668 F.3d at 665.

_

⁴ As set forth above, the Arbitrator actually found that if the Agreement had been followed as written, Bidsal could have distributed even more money to himself, but that the way Bidsal had interpreted and complied with the Agreement was consistent with the purpose and intent of the Agreement, even if the ambiguous language of the Agreement did not require Bidsal to benefit CLA in the manner he did.

CLA's contentions in this appeal are merely disagreements with Judge Wall's interpretation of the Agreement, but there is no basis to even remotely suggest that Judge Wall manifestly disregarded the law. To the contrary, Judge Wall expressly regarded and followed the controlling law in determining that a transaction cannot be completed without payment.

1. The Controlling Law Was Followed, Not Disregarded.

It has always been the law that a cash sale requires receipt of payment as a condition precedent to delivery of the thing being purchased. *Ellis v. Nelson*, 68 Nev. 410, 146, 233 P.2d 1072, 1075 (1951) ("A cash sale is generally regarded as one in which neither title nor possession is to be delivered until payment in full has been made."); 2 Williston on Sales (Revised Ed.) 324, § 341; *Bank of America*, *N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 134 Nev. 604, 607, 427 P.3d 113, 118 (2018) ("In addition to payment in full, valid tender must be unconditional, or with conditions on which the tendering party has a right to insist. 74 Am. Jur. 2d Tender § 22 (2012)."). *Compare* to NRS 104.2511, part of Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code governing sales of goods, which states "[u]nless otherwise agreed tender of payment is a condition to the seller's duty to tender and complete any delivery." NRS 104.2511(1).

The buy-sale provisions of the Agreement are not well drafted and do not actually provide any timeline for when a sale is to be closed if the member receiving

the offer elects to buy instead of sell; however, it does state that the terms of the initial offer are "to be all cash and close escrow within 30 days of the acceptance." (No. 1, Vol. 1, pp. 57-85 at pp. 67-68 at ¶ 4.2). Assuming these same terms applied if CLA elected to purchase rather than sell, CLA was required to make payment in cash to Bidsal within 30 days of making its counteroffer, as a condition precedent to Bidsal's obligation to transfer his membership interest to CLA. 68 Nev. at 146, 233 P.2d at 1075.

Not only did CLA fail to make any payment to Bidsal until April, 2022 (at which time Bidsal immediately transferred his membership interest to CLA), CLA never even informed Bidsal of what it considered the purchase price to be. Under the controlling law, Bidsal had no obligation to transfer his membership interest until he was paid, which is precisely why Judge Wall determined the sale transaction had never been completed. Thus, Judge Wall's decision followed the controlling law.

Ironically, CLA asked Judge Wall to disregard the controlling law by treating CLA as if it had performed its payment obligation back in September, 2017, even though it had never performed by making payment. Judge Wall correctly refused to do so based upon the evidence presented at the arbitration which demonstrated that CLA had never made any payment at any time to purchase Bidsal's interest.

CLA has argued that somehow Bidsal prevented CLA from tendering payment or opening an escrow, neither of which arguments are true or were accepted by Judge Wall. CLA did not need Bidsal's consent to open an escrow and deposit the purchase price,⁵ and certainly nothing prevented CLA from sending Bidsal whatever amount CLA believed the purchase price to be (even though it is patently obvious the purchase price was unknown given the ambiguities in the buy-sale provision of the Agreement). Of course, CLA's argument also ignores the fact that the Second Arbitration was required to determine the actual purchase price, which Judge Wall determined was nearly half a million dollars more than what CLA later claimed it to be.

_

Under Nevada law, CLA could clearly have unilaterally opened an escrow and deposited into the escrow whatever money it believed it was obligated to pay Bidsal for Bidsal's interest, and Bidsal's consent was not necessary to CLA opening an escrow.

⁵ NRS 645A.010(7) defines an escrow as "any transaction **wherein one person**, for the purpose of effecting or closing the sale, purchase, exchange, transfer, encumbering or leasing of real or personal property to another person or persons, **delivers** any written instrument, **money**, evidence of title to real or personal property, or other thing of value to a third person **to be held by such third person until the happening of a specified event or the performance of a prescribed condition**, when it is then to be delivered by such third person, in compliance with instructions under which he or she is to act, to a grantee, grantor, promisee, promisor, obligee, obligor, lessee, lessor, bailee, bailor or any agent or employee thereof. The term includes the performance of the services of a construction control." (Emphasis added). *See also* NRS 692A.024.

Importantly, in the Second Arbitration Bidsal testified that he would have accepted any payment from Golshani if one had ever been made, and would have considered it a partial payment if the amount was incorrect. The specific testimony was:

Q. If Ben had delivered cash, a check, a wire transfer in any form – if Ben had delivered money to you for the purpose of purchasing your membership interest in Green Valley Commerce, what would you have done?"

A: Probably would put it in a accommodative escrow account and consider the – well, if the amount was right – I would calculate, and if it was correct, then I would accept it. If not, it would be partial payment."

See Second Arbitration Transcript Day Three (No. 18, Vols. 28-30 at pp. 6401-6402, transcript pp. 681:18 – 682:5). All of this evidence was considered by Judge Wall in making his decision that "[CLA] cannot now divest [Bidsal] of his membership interest because it has not yet paid him for his interest pursuant to the [Agreement]." (No. 20, Vol. 36, pp. 8277-8308 at 8300). This decision was absolutely within the exclusive jurisdiction of Judge Wall and draws its essence from the Agreement, which requires CLA to make payment in cash. (No. 1, Vol. 1, pp. 57-85 at pp. 67-68 at ¶¶ 3) ("the payment of the purchase price shall be in cash...."). More importantly, Judge Wall clearly followed his understanding of the controlling law (rather than ignoring it), and he got it right.

Contrary to CLA's argument, there is nothing in the record demonstrating that

Judge Haberfeld ever considered this issue in the First Arbitration, or that he ever

determined CLA could claim to own Bidsal's interest before performing its obligation under the Agreement to make payment. Certainly, CLA has not provided this Court with any reference to the record showing this issue was presented to Judge Haberfeld in the First Arbitration, and ruled upon by Judge Haberfeld.

2. CLA Misstates The Standard For Vacatur.

In the First Appeal, CLA argued "[a]rbitrators do not exceed their powers if their interpretation of an agreement, even if erroneous, is rationally grounded in the agreement." *See* Respondent's Answering Brief in Case Nos. 80427 and 80831. (No. 39, Vol. 40, pp. 8934-9028 at p. 8982) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in the original). CLA further argued, "[t]he party seeking to vacate an award on a statutory ground has the burden of demonstrating by clear and convincing evidence how the arbitrator exceeded the agreement's authority." *Id.* at p. 8975) (internal citations omitted).

In this appeal, CLA makes a completely different argument which misstates the legal standard for vacatur under the FAA. CLA misstates the legal standard for "manifest disregard of the law" when it argues that "...arbitrators exceed their authority when they render decisions contrary to the contracts they have been hired to arbitrate." *See* Appellant's Opening Brief at p. 23 ¶ 4 (internal citations omitted). As set forth above, this is not the correct legal standard, and it is not the standard CLA previously represented to this Court.

Despite CLA's very strong argument in the First Appeal that courts are not able to vacate an arbitrator's decision absent extraordinary circumstances, CLA has taken a dramatically different and inconsistent position in this appeal in its attempt to relitigate what was decided by Judge Wall.

3. Judge Wall's Decision Is Rational.

CLA argues that the Arbitrator's award is "completely irrational" because, "[h]e nonetheless sought to avoid the 2017 date mandated by the Agreement." *See* Opening Brief at p. 26. However, the only irrationality is CLA's assertion the Agreement required Bidsal to transfer his membership interest prior to receiving payment from CLA.

As was addressed above, the First Arbitration Decision never mentions the sale being retroactively effective to September, 2017. Such a finding simply does not exist. The First Arbitration Decision contemplated CLA paying Bidsal for his membership interest and Bidsal then transferring his membership to CLA, both of which were to occur within ten days <u>after</u> the rendering of the First Arbitration Award, but no payment was ever made by CLA until after the Second Arbitration Decision was issued. The First Arbitration Decision did not even contemplate that CLA would refuse to identify a purchase price or a pay the purchase price within those ten days.

Regardless of whether CLA believes the Second Arbitration Decision is good or bad, there is no legitimate argument that it was irrational, manifestly disregarded the law, or that it "failed to draw its essence from the Agreement." 668 F.3d at 665. Judge Wall's decision was well reasoned, was based upon his interpretation of the Agreement, was based upon evidence in the record of the arbitration, and was based upon his understanding of the controlling law. As a result, CLA cannot meet its extremely high burden to vacate the Second Arbitration Decision.

B. <u>BIDSAL WAS THE PREVAILING PARTY IN THE SECOND ARBITRATION AND WAS ENTITLED TO HIS ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.</u>

Although CLA also appealed the District Court's order confirming Judge Wall's award of attorney's fees to Bidsal, the Opening Brief contains no specific argument related to the award of fees to Bidsal, and has thus waived any such argument. *See Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n.3 (2011) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived.").

NRAP 28(a)(10) requires that CLA's Opening Brief contain all of "appellant's contentions and the reasons for them, with citations to the authorities and parts of the record on which appellant relies" for such arguments. *See* NRAP 28(a)(10). The Opening Brief merely argues that if Judge Wall exceeded his authority, the "award of attorney fees to Bidsal as the prevailing party on this issue,"

cannot stand." Opening Brief at p. 25 (repeated on p. 28). The Opening Brief contains no legal authority or references to the record that are specifically related to the award of attorney's fees.

The Agreement specifically provides that the prevailing party is entitled to recover its attorney's fees and costs.

The fees and expenses of JAMS and the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Members and advanced by them from time to time as required; provided that at the conclusion of the arbitration, the arbitrator shall award costs and expenses (including the costs of the arbitration previously advanced and the fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants and other experts) to the prevailing party.

(No. 1, Vol. 1, pp. 57-85 at pp. 64-65 ¶ 14.1).

Judge Wall determined that because the Agreement is based upon Nevada law, he used the factors of *Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969), to determine the reasonable amount of fees and costs he would award under the Agreement, to Bidsal as the prevailing party. (No. 20, Vol. 36, pp. 8277-8308 at pp. 8303-8306). Bidsal requested attorney's fees of \$444,225.00 and costs of \$155,644.84. Judge Wall awarded \$300,000.00 in attorney's fees and \$155,644.84 in costs, all of which he explained was warranted under the *Brunzell* factors and the Agreement.

As the Opening Brief offers no argument regarding the amount or reasonableness of the attorney's fees and costs awarded, any such arguments are waived.

Inasmuch as CLA's appeal of the award to Bidsal of attorney's fees and costs is solely based upon its argument that Judge Wall acted outside of his authority, and because Judge Wall's decision did not *manifestly disregard the law* as it is clearly grounded in his interpretation of the Agreement and applicable Nevada law, there is no basis to disturb the award of attorney's fees and costs under the FAA standards for vacatur set forth in *Sanchez v. Elizondo*, 878 F.3d 1216 (9th Cir. 2018) and *Biller v. Toyota Motor Corp.*, 668 F.3d 655 (9th Cir. 2012).

VII.

CONCLUSION

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